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Colechester
Georgetown
1846

In 1668, a 1000 acre tract on the Sassafras River called Colechester
was first patented to William Smith.1 Later in the 17th Century, it was
acquired by William Pearce (who resided down river at Marshy Point) who
gave the plantation to his son Gideon in 1713. Gideon established a ferry
operation there which provided passage across the Sassafras. “Ferry Point”
was mentioned as the location for George Town when it was formally
established in the Legislative Act of 1736. That same year, Gideon Pearce
was named as the grantor of the original 100 lots surveyed. In 1742 Pearce
had his plantation resurveyed. “Colechester Resurveyed” included 1051
acres.2 After his death in 1751, Colechester descended to Pearce’s son James
who in turn had George Town resurveyed in 1787, which increased the

boundaries and the number of lots.

James Pearce (d. 1802) served in the Lower House from Kent County
after the Revolution. He was also a vestryman of Shrewsbury Parish and
Commissioner of Tax as well. Beside his farm, he owned a grist mill and was
actively involved in the buying and selling of real estate, primarily in Kent
and Cecil Counties. When Pearce died, his personal estate was valued at

@2796, a large fortune for the period.

While there are remnants of a basement and west wall dating from
the 18th Century upon which the present house was constructed, too little
remains to conjecture its original appearance. What exists today was

constructed under the ownership of Jacob Malsberger who purchased the
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farm in 1845.

The house is a late Federal style frame building composed of a five
bay, 2 1/2 story frame section with a three bay, 2 story lower service wing.
Both parts are one room deep—the typical arrangement in Kent County.
The plan was similar to many farmhouses with central stairhall. A third
section which once stood on the west end was demolished many years ago.
Between the two parts of the house there is a brick gable reputed to belong

to the 18th century Pearce farmhouse.

In the basement, the western half is indeed early and it possesses
some unexplained recesses in its north wall. The eastern half of the
basement is contemporary with the rest of the structure above. In that

portion there is a six foot deep storage pit which measures 6’ x 8 across.

On both the 1860 map and the 1877 Atlas, two houses appear on the
farm. The latter labels it “Capt. A. Woodall Res.” His name also appears at
the bottom of the hill in Georgetown, where he was to live later, adjacent
his warehouse. Woodall purchased Colechester in 1875. To this day it

remains in the possession of his descendants.

1. Patents, Lib. 10, fol. 25.
2. Patents, Lib. EI 6, fol. 675.
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Colchester (Tolchester)

Near Georgetown

Private

Except for about thirty years in the middle of the nineteenth century,
Colchester has been owned by only two families. Ownership of the Pearce
(Pierce) family began in the seventeenth century with William Pearce, who
was high sheriff of Cecil County, of which this section of Kent County was a
part from 1674 to 1706. In 1713/14 he gave Colchester, then 935 acres, to his
son Gideon, apparently the same Gideon who in the 1730s platted part of it for
Georgetown, a town authorized by the colonial legisiature. From 1875 to the
present the farm has been owned by the Andrew Woodall family, probably the
leading family in nearby Georgetown during the iate nineteenth and early
twentieth centuries. During the family's ownership, however, the farm was
always tenanted. Although the present 2-1/2 storey, S-bay-wide, frame main
section is interesting as an exampie of middle nineteenth century
construction and style, with a late continuation of the Federal form, it is the
remnant of an earlier building incorporated into the present main section that
is the most provocative. In the cellar, in the back wall, are three
irregularly-spaced arched niches that were part of the original construction
and because of which the whole wall was built deeper. Their purpose is not
known, but judging from the construction of the remnant, they appear to date
from the early eighteenth century. What happend to the old house there is not
known; it may have burned. There is also what seems to be a stone-lined
cold-storage pit in the 1840s section of the cellar that is highly unusual,
probably built by the Malsberger family along with the rest of the frame, main
section. There was once an ice house, so this pit is not a substitute for it.
The northern section of the farm, on the Sassafras River, may have been the
location of the Kent County militia's stand in 1813 as the British came up the
river to burn Georgetown during the war of 1812. Earthworks were once said
to be visible, and an old cannonball has occasionally surfaced. The Pearce
family in the l1ate eighteenth century evidently farmed intensively. According
to the census of 1790, James Pearce, then the owner of Colchester, owned 36
slaves, which made him one of the largest slave owners of Kent County in that
year.
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1. Name (indicate preferred name)

historic Colchester (preferred); Tolchester; Pearce Farm

and/or common

2. Location

street & number yest side Rt. 213, lane south of Georgetown cemetery ___ not for publication
city, town Georgetown — vicinity of congressional district
state ’ Maryland county Kent
3. Classification
Category Ownership Status Present Use
—— district — public _X_ occupied —___ agriculture _____ museum
_X__building(s) X private ) —__ unoccupied —_ commercial _ park
— structure —_ both —_work in progress ___educational _X_ private residence
___ site Public Acquisition Accessible —_ entertainment religious
—_ object —_'in process —_yes: restricted ____government ___scientific
— being considered __ yes: unrestricted — industrial transportation
_Xx not applicable _X no . ___ military other:

4. Owner of Property (give. names and mailing addresses of all owners)

name Mrs. Chariotte W. Dennett
648-5719
street & number 10 Glenn Avon Drive telephone no.: (203) 637-1215
city, town Riverside state and zip code Connecticut 06878
5. Location of Legal Description
courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Kent County Courthouse liber EHP 117
street & number Cross Street folio 23
city, town Chestertown ’ state Maryland
6. Representation in Existing uistorical surveys
title Maryland Historic Sites Inventory — HABS Inventory
date September 4, 1968 X tfederal _ X state ___county ___ local

-<pository for survey records Maryland Historical Trust, 21 State Circle

city, town Annapolis state Maryland 21401
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7. Description

Condition Check one Check one

___ excellent ____ deteriorated ____ unaltered _X_original site

___good ____ruins X altered ____moved date of move
X_ fair ____ unexposed

Prepare both a summary paragraph and a general description of the resource and its
various elements as it exists today.

Colchester
River neck that
Creek) and Mill
neck, and Route
of Route 213 to
Colchester Farm

Farm is locat ed in the northwestern portion of the Sassafras
is between Dyer Creek (formerly Broad Oak Creek of Hendley's
Creek on the east., Georgetown and Galena are part of this

213 is the public road through it. The lane from the west side
the farm is a very long one. The frame house now at

was built in the 1840s, probably by the Malsberger family, in

a late Federal style. There is a 2-1/2 storey, five-bay-wide main section
with central entry and st ar hall, with one room on each side on the first
storey. On the west end of the main section there is a lower, two-storey,
three-bay-wide wing section, with the first floor now entirely a kitchen. A
wing that was on the present wing's west end has been removed. It is said to
have contained the space earlier used for a kitchen., There is a fragment of an
eighteenth~century brick building incorporated into the main section; its
entire west end is used. All farm outbuildings of significance are gone.

(Continued)



8. Significance Survey No. K-149

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below
___ prehistoric ____ archeology-prehistoric ____ community planning ____ landscape architecture____ religion
_ 1400-1499 ___ archeology-historic ____conservation — law —_ science
1500-1599 ____ agriculture —___economics — literature — sculpture
—1600-1699 _X_architecture ___education — military — social/
_X 1700-1799 ____ art —__ engineering —_ music humanitarian
—X_1800-1899 ___ commerce ____exploration/settlement ____ philosophy ___ theater
— 1900- ____ communications __industry —_ politics/government ___ transportation
____invention _ other (specify)
Specific dates 184 Builder/Architect
check: Applicable Criteria: _ A _ B € _ D
and/or
Applicable Exception: _ A B _C _D _E _F _ G
Level of Significance: _ national _ state __local

Prepare both a summary paragraph of significance and a general statement of history and
support.

Except for about thirty years in the middle of the nineteenth century;
Colchester has been owned by only two families. Ownership of the Pearce
(Pierce) family began in the seventeenth century with William Pearce, who
was high sheriff of Cecil County, of which this section of Kent County was a
part from 1674 to 1706, 1In 1713/14 he gave Colchester, then 955 acres, to his
son Gideon, apparently the same Gideon who in the 1730s platted part of it for
the laid-out town of Georgetown, a town authorized by the colonial
legislature. From 1875 to the present the farm has been owned by the Andrew
Woodall family, probably the leading family in nearby Georgetown of the late
nineteenth and early twentieth century. During the family's ownership,
however, the farm was always tenanted. Although the present frame main
section is interesting as an example of middle (circa 1846) nineteenth century
construction and style, with a late continuation of the Federal form, it is the
remnant of an earlier building incorporated into the present main section that
is the most provocative. In the cellar, in the back wall, are three
irregularly-spaced arched niches that were part of the original construction
and because of which the whole wall was built deeper. Their purpose is not
known, but judging from the construction of the remnant, they appear to date
from the early eighteenth century. What happened to the old house there is not
known; it may have burned. There is also what seems to be a stone-lined
cold-storage pit in the 1840s section of the cellar that is highly unusual,
probably built by the Malsberger family along with the rest of the frame, main
section. There was once an ice house, so this pit is not a substitute for it,
The northern section of the farm, on the Sassafras River, may have been the
location of the Kent County militia's stand in 1813 as the British came up the
river to burn Georgetown during the War of 1812, Earthworks were once said
to be visible, and an old cannonball has occasionally surfaced. The Pearce
family in the late eighteenth century evidently farmed intensively. According
to the census of 1790, James Pearce, then the owner of Colchester, owned 36
slaves; he was one of the largest slave owners of Kent County in that year.
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List all states and counties for properties overlapping state or county boundaries
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11. Form Prepared By

namettitle Margaret Q. Fallaw, Survey Consultant
County Commissioners of Kent County
organization Historical Society of Kent County date September 12, 1985
Court House 778-4600
street & number  Cross Street telephone 778-3499
city or town Chestertown . state Maryland

The Maryland Historic Sites Inventory was officially created by
an Act of the Maryland Legislature to be found in the Annotated
Code of Maryland, Article 41, Section 181 KA, 1974 supplement.

The survey and inventory are being prepared for information and
record purposes only and do not constitute any infringement of
individual property rights.

return to: Maryland Historical Trust
Shaw House
21 State Circle
Annapolis, Maryland 21401
(301) 269-2438
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The frame main section at Coichester farm is a rare dated building,
though the date is not entirely legible. Apparently as part of the original
cornice left untouched during later remodeling, there is a dropped "box" or
post section with an applied star in the lower portion and the date very
faintly above. The date may once have been applied, with what is remaining
being only paint edges, or it may have been incised and largel6y filled in. It
appears to say 1846, though the 1ast number is not clearly a 6.

The five-bay main section is about 4] feet wide and 21 feet deep. The
latter was also the apparent depth of the earlier, eighteenth- century here
whose west end wall laid in English bond remains. This is an unusually deep
measurement for a house of that period. The only wing that now remains at
Colchester is about 20 feet wide and 18-1/2 feet deep. It is flush with the
main section on the front, main facade that faces south/southeast and inset
on the rear. The exterior walls of both sections (except for the brick wall,
which is heavily patched) are covered with asbestos shingles applied over
horizontal, 1apped weatherboard with an exposure of circa 6"

There are two cellar sections, one under the wing at the west and one
under the main section. The west cellar foundation walls are three- sided and
hence later than at lest the knglish-bond main section west wall. The wing
cellar is of no particular interest. The main--section cellar is reached from
an opening cut through the common wall between wing and main cellars.
There is a formerly-used entr% in the east end of the main sectin, probably
mid-nineteenth century, with bulkhead doors present but steps gone. The
main-section cellar is essentially one open space, broken only b?l elongated
piers to support the changed framing system under the stair hall, a common
device by the mid nineteenth century. The floor is dirt.

The main- section cellar has two construction dates, that of the western
section appearing to date to the eighteenth century. The old cellar walls,
front and rear, appear to account for somewhat more than a third of the width
of the section foundation (about 13'-3" measured on the interior). There is a
clear change in the brickwork at that pont onboth front and rear walls,
perhaps at the juncture of the esat foundation wall of a former building here.
There is an offset here; the older foundation walls protrude 2-3" into the
geltlra‘r, cor?pared to the mid-nineteenth-century foundation which continues

0 the east.

At the center of the west end wall (entirely within the cellar) is a very
large arched chimney base that is 6'-9" wide overall, with a round-headed
opening that is 45" wide and 40" deep. The arch is dirt-floored from the level
of the two-brick “curb” running across the opening; from there to the center
of the arch the height is 65°. The arch, like the end foundation wall, is also
1aid in English bond. It seems never to have been used for or intended for a
fire. The arch is parged and whitewashed smoothly. There are no signs of
repair or patching. There are offset sin?!e brick courses on the straight sides
of the opening from the initial construction of the arch that were probably
later used for shelves.

(continued)
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Within the north (rear) wall of this old section there is a set of three
unequally-spaced niches. The first is 46" from the cellar northwest corner
(old brick section) to niche center. From there it is 44" more toward the east
to the center of the middle niche, and then 40" to the center of the
easternmost one. They measure 12" wide x 13-1/2" deep x 15" high to the
center of their shallow segmental arches. There is a curb beginning about
12-13" from the northwest cellar corner, that is about 4-1/2" to 5" deep, of
brick. It runs to where the old foundation stops and the new begins (the joint
with the new foundation). There is no such curb along the front old foundation
wall, nor along the west end. It is now about 6" high above the dirt floor as it
is now. The lower edge of the niches is about 20" above the upper surface of
the curb. It is possible that this is simply a remnant of an old brick floor
with no relationship to the purpose of the niches, but it is also possible that
the curb below them is related.

The curb and wall around the openings (both above and below and to the
sides) is full of splatters and runs that appear to be dark grey or black. These
splatters and runs do seem to be on top of earlier whitewashing. They may
extend to the new foundation area.

The niches seem original to the old north foundation wall; the work is
neat and appears untampered with. In addition, the old rear wall is somewhat
thicker (apparently one brick thick) than the old front wall. It is about 9-1/2"
to 10" from the face of the old front foundation wall to the sill face; for the
rear old wall the distance is about 12", thoug there may be a difference in sill
sizes. There is no evidence of any arch-top opening in these niches, such as
for a flue. The interiors of the niches are also spattered and are now empty.

There is a remnant of a partition (perhaps) or part of a shelf system,
which may have closed off this northwest corner of the cellar from the
chimney base on the south, apparently extending to between the second and
third niche on the east. One upright remains near the chimney base arch at
the west end wall center; these wooden remnants do not show splatters.
There is one flat stone in the dirt floor at the edge of the possibly enclosed
area.

The main- section cellar had two windows in the rear wall, which are
now closed, with the one in the old foundation section in the northwest bay.
These closed rear windows appear wider than the front windows, which are
not closed and have metal bars. The sash of the front windows are most
likely replacements.

In the circa 1846 cellar’s northeast corner there is a pit 8 feet wide
(east-west) and 6 feet front to back. Its depth into the ground is about 6'-7",
though there is some debris in the bottom. The house foundation here is of
fieldstone up to the height of the cellar floor on the rear, north wall but
extending about 3 feet above the cellar floor on the east end in the pit area.
There is an adjacent chimney base, totally dif feren% frotm thg )west-end base.

continue
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It is of typical mid-nineteenth century construction with straight pilasters.
One now descends into the pit via a modern boat 1adder. The two pit walls
that are not house foundation walls are of fieldstone with upper courses of
brick. They now terminate flush with the dirt floor. They ma¥\ have been
higher at one time. Evidently in the early twentieth century this pit was used
for dairy storage for daily household use. At this time there was a large,
separate icehouse for the farm.

Not much is known about the Malsberger family that probably built the
1840s house. They magl have been German Catholics and perhaps originally
from Cecil County or Pennsylvania. The famil\é, led by Jacob Malsberger,
bought the house in 1845 from the last of the Pearce family. The last male
Pearce (James) died in 1832; his wife Catherine was the seller to the
Malsbergers. The pit may be construction customarily seen to the north.

Interesting in the main section is a surviving grained door and a stair
with unusual balusters, that are plainly turned and tapered. There are several
handsome mantels, one of marbelized slate or perhaps even marble.
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